

2012 Singapore Proxy Voting Guidelines

December 19, 2011

Institutional Shareholder Services Inc.

Copyright © 2011 by ISS

www.issgovernance.com

ISS' 2012 Singapore Proxy Voting Guidelines

Effective for Meetings on or after Feb. 1, 2012 Published Dec. 19, 2011

Table of Contents

Board of Directors
Election of Directors
Remuneration
Directors Fees
Stock Option Plans
Performance Share Plans
Repurchase of Shares
Audit
Share Issuance Requests
General Issuance Requests
Specific Issuance Requests
Share Repurchase Plans
Related-Party Transactions
Capital Structures
Amendments to the Articles of Association/Bylaws7
Structure of Analysis
ISS Analytical Focus
Divestments
Asset Purchases
Disclosure/Disclaimer

Board of Directors

Singapore companies provide the names of all director nominees in the meeting notice. Biographical information about the incumbent directors, including share ownership, is available in the annual report. Companies also disclose the composition of board committees. The new corporate governance code asserts that companies should disclose the attendance of their directors at board and committee meetings. However, ISS' primary concern with Singapore boards is that the large numbers of government appointees could lead to a conflict of interest between government goals and those of other shareholders. ISS also prefers to see directors limit the number of boards on which they sit, so as not to spread themselves too thin.

Election of Directors

Guideline 2.1 of the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance (2005) states that "...[t]here should be a strong and independent element on the Board, with independent directors making up at least one-third of the Board."

Where independent directors represent at least one-third of the board, ISS will recommend supporting election of a boardnominated candidate unless:

- He or she is an executive director and serves on the audit, remuneration or nominating committee;
- He or she has been a partner of the company's auditor within the last three years, and is on the audit committee of the company; or
- He or she has attended less than 75 percent of board meetings over the most recent two years, without a satisfactory explanation.

Where independent directors represent less than one-third of the board, ISS will generally not support the election of a candidate if:

- He or she is an executive director. If more than one executive director is up for election, ISS will recommend against only one (typically, the director with the worst attendance record). Executives do not need to sit on the board for directors to access their expertise. Executives can be invited to board meetings to make presentations and answer questions;
- He or she is a representative of a substantial shareholder on a board where the reason independent directors constitute less than one-third of the board is because of a preponderance of executive directors and representatives of one substantial shareholder. In these cases, ISS will recommend against only one representative of the substantial shareholder (typically, the director with the worst attendance record);
- He or she is an executive director who serves on the audit, remuneration, or nominating committee;
- He or she has been a partner of the company's auditor within the last three years, and is on the audit committee of the company; or
- He or she has attended less than 75 percent of board meetings over the most recent two years, without a satisfactory explanation.

In making these recommendations, ISS will not recommend against the election of the CEO or a company founder who is integral to the company.

ISS will also consider the history of a particular director when deciding whether to recommend in favor of his or her (re)election. Examples of circumstances where ISS will consider recommending voting against a director's election, regardless of board composition and attendance record, are when a director has had significant involvement with a failed company and/or where a director has in the past appeared not to have acted in the best interests of all shareholders.

Moreover, ISS will recommend voting against shareholder-nominated candidates who lack board endorsement, unless they demonstrate a clear ability to contribute positively to board deliberations.

Under extraordinary circumstances, ISS will recommend voting against individual directors, members of a committee, or the entire board, due to:

- Material failures of governance, stewardship, risk oversight, or fiduciary responsibilities at the company;
- Failure to replace management as appropriate; or
- Egregious actions related to a director's service on other boards that raise substantial doubt about his or her ability to effectively oversee management and serve the best interests of shareholders at any company.

Remuneration

Directors Fees

ISS generally supports resolutions regarding directors' fees unless they are excessive relative to fees paid by other companies of similar size.

Stock Option Plans

ISS has historically recommended voting against a proposed option plan if the maximum dilution level for the plan exceeds ISS guidelines of 5 percent of issued capital for a mature company and 10 percent for a growth company. ISS has also recommended voting against stock option plans that allow for the granting of options with an exercise price at a discount to the current market price.

ISS will recommend voting against an option plan if:

- The maximum dilution level for the plan exceeds ISS guidelines of 5 percent of issued capital for a mature company and 10 percent for a growth company. However, ISS will support plans at mature companies with dilution levels up to 10 percent if the plan includes other positive features such as challenging performance criteria and meaningful vesting periods as these features partially offset dilution concerns by reducing the likelihood that options will become exercisable unless there is a clear improvement in shareholder value;
- The plan permits options to be issued with an exercise price at a discount to the current market price; or
- Directors eligible to receive options under the plan are involved in the administration of the plan.

This rationale recognizes the benefit of well structured option plans at plans at mature companies, provided that performance criteria are sufficiently robust.

In Singapore, companies may repurchase shares on the market for use in their compensation plans. In some cases, using repurchased shares is more efficient than issuing new shares to participants on exercise of options. ISS also recognizes the benefits to existing shareholders when repurchased shares are used to fund options grants, as dilution to their interests is minimized. However, although there is no cost to shareholders in terms of dilution of their voting interests, buybacks still represent a very real cost to the company and shareholders. As a result, if a company wants to use repurchased shares in its compensation plans, ISS expects some kind of limitation on the number that can be used.

If a plan includes a specified limit on the total number of shares that could be used and repurchased shares would count toward that limit, ISS recommends that shareholders support the plan as long as it meets all other guidelines. However, if repurchased shares would not count toward the plan's limit on newly issued shares but would operate as an additional pool of shares, then ISS looks for an additional limitation, either an aggregate numerical limit, a percentage limit, or limitations on individual awards.

Performance Share Plans

For performance-based plans alone, ISS supports a maximum dilution of 10 percent of a company's issued capital provided that appropriate performance hurdles are employed.

Performance share plans in Singapore are structured specifically to provide incentives to company employees, which is in line with ISS guidelines. The plans have an effect on the company's issued share capital only to the extent that new shares are issued. If only existing shares are used for the awards, there will be no impact on issued capital. Unlike share option plans, ISS generally approves the implementation of performance share plans.

Repurchase of Shares

In Singapore, companies may repurchase shares on the market for use in their compensation plans. In some cases, using repurchased shares is more efficient than issuing new shares to participants on exercise of options. ISS also recognizes the benefits to existing shareholders when repurchased shares are used to fund options grants, as dilution to their interests is minimized. However, although there is no cost to shareholders in terms of dilution of their voting interests, buybacks still represent a very real cost to the company and shareholders. As a result, if a company wants to use repurchased shares in its compensation plans, ISS expects some kind of limitation on the number that can be used.

If a plan includes a specified limit on the total number of shares that could be used and repurchased shares would count toward that limit, ISS recommends that shareholders support the plan as long as it meets all other guidelines. However, if repurchased shares would not count toward the plan's limit on newly issued shares but would operate as an additional pool of shares, then ISS looks for an additional limitation, either an aggregate numerical limit, a percentage limit or limitations on individual awards.

Audit

ISS recognizes that Singapore is in the forefront of good corporate governance practices in Asia regarding auditors, as the Companies Act mandates the appointment of an audit committee.

However, the practice of auditors providing non-audit services to companies is problematic. While large auditors may have effective internal barriers to ensure that there are no conflicts of interest, an auditor's ability to remain objective becomes questionable when fees paid to the auditor for non-audit services such as management consulting, general bookkeeping, and special situation audits exceed the standard annual audit fees. While some compensation for non-audit services is customary, the importance of maintaining the independence of the auditor is paramount. If fees from non-audit services become significant without any clear safeguards against conflicts of interest, ISS recommends opposing the auditor's reappointment.

With regard to the proposals to (re)appoint auditors, ISS will recommend supporting the appointment of auditors and authorizing the board to fix their remuneration, unless:

- There are serious concerns about the accounts presented or the audit procedures used;
- The auditor is being changed without explanation; or
- Non-audit related fees are substantial or are routinely in excess of standard annual audit fees.

Whilst ISS will consider the nature and scope of non-audit fees when assessing their magnitude, where non-audit fees have constituted more than 50 percent of total auditor compensation during three out of the five most recent financial years, ISS will ordinarily not recommend support for the reelection of the audit firm.

Share Issuance Requests

General Issuance Requests

Share issuance authorizations are good for only one year. The listing manual of the SGX, as amended in 1999, allows companies to seek an annual mandate for the issuance of ordinary shares up to 50 percent of issued capital, with a sublimit of 20 percent of issued capital on shares that may be issued without preemptive rights. Most companies seek such a mandate every year, to prevent the need to convene a shareholder meeting for each share issuance, however small. ISS believes shareholders should have preemptive rights for large stock issues, but also believes companies should have the flexibility to transact ordinary business and should not have to incur the extra expense of providing preemptive rights for small issuances.

Specific Issuance Requests

Because all share issuance authorities last for only one year, companies must regularly request these authorities. There are two routine types of specific issuance requests. The first type is to service share option plans, usually for a maximum of 15 percent of outstanding capital – the maximum allowable size, under the listing rules, for option plans using unissued shares. Companies generally do not use the entire authority, but ISS does not support requests to issue more than 5 percent of capital for option plans (10 percent in the case of growth companies, or where challenging performance criteria and meaningful vesting periods are applied to plans in mature companies) as the potential dilution to ordinary shareholders is unacceptably high (see "Stock Option Plans" above). The second type of special authorization request is for a specific purpose such as a bonus issue, a rights issue, or the financing of an acquisition or merger if it will require shares to be issued in excess of the limits in the general mandate. ISS reviews these requests on a case-by-case basis.

Share Repurchase Plans

These are routine items asking shareholders to authorize a company to repurchase its own shares within the limits imposed by company law and the company's articles. Upon requesting the authority, companies must inform shareholders of the maximum number of shares that may be repurchased (which may be no more than 10 percent of issued capital), the reasons for the proposed buyback, and details of any share repurchases conducted during the previous 12 months. Shares may be repurchased either on market or off market by way of an "equal access scheme" designed to ensure that all shareholders have an opportunity to tender their shares. Market share repurchases must be at a price not more than 5 percent above the average closing market price over the five trading days before the day on which the purchases are made. Share repurchases may be made out of capital or profits that are available for distribution as dividends. Companies must cancel the repurchased shares or hold them as treasury shares. The right to attend and vote at meetings as well as to receive dividends will be suspended for as long as the repurchased shares are held in treasury. Legal mandates and SGX listing requirements limit the potential for abuses of this authority, making these requests routine.

Related-Party Transactions

Singapore's related-party transaction rules provide shareholders with substantial protection against insider trading abuses. Under the country's related-party transaction rules, shares considered affiliated are excluded from voting on the related issues. A broad range of commercial transactions by companies or their subsidiaries require shareholder approval as related-party transactions. A company may seek a shareholder mandate for recurrent interested party transactions of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations, such as purchases of supplies and materials, but not for the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings, or businesses. Such mandates are intended to facilitate transactions that occur in the normal course of the company's business. Provided that such transactions are carried out at arms-length and on normal commercial terms, such requests are reasonable.

Capital Structures

Capital structures are generally composed of ordinary shares and, in some cases, preferred shares. Companies in industries where foreign ownership is still limited have "local shares" and "foreign shares," which trade separately in the market. The one-share, one-vote system typically applies to both types of shares, but the price of foreign shares often exceeds that of local shares, reflecting their limited supply. As foreign-ownership restrictions have been lifted, a number of prominent companies – including all Singapore banks – have merged their local and foreign share tranches. ISS supports the lifting of ownership limits and the greater liquidity and marketability that result from merging foreign and local shares.

Amendments to the Articles of Association/Bylaws

Most amendments proposed by directors are to align the company with recent changes in laws and listing requirements. ISS bases its recommendations on the possible impact the proposal will have on shareholders' rights and interests.

Mergers & Acquisitions

ISS evaluates merger and restructuring transactions on a case-by-case basis, giving consideration to economic, operational, and governance factors. Our analyses are based on the following principles:

- Current shareholders' viewpoint: All analyses are conducted from the point of view of enhancing long-term shareholder returns for the company's existing shareholders. Since transactions will often involve more than one corporation, this may lead to contradictory recommendations. It is important for investors to evaluate our recommendations in light of their relative investment holdings. If an investor holds many shares of company A, for whom a transaction is deemed to be favorable, and relatively few shares of company B, for whom a transaction is held to be unfavorable, it may be in the best interests of the investor to vote for the transaction for both companies rather than follow ISS's recommendations.
- Enhancing shareholder value: The fundamental objective of these analyses is to determine whether a transaction will enhance shareholder value. While the post-transaction governance structure is an important factor in the decision, the paramount concern is whether the transaction makes economic sense and is expected to produce superior shareholder returns. If poor governance is being introduced as a result of the transaction, the company must demonstrate that the economic benefits clearly outweigh any reduction in shareholder rights.

• Independent evaluation: ISS prefers to see a fairness opinion prepared by a recognized investment banking firm. In transactions where inside directors or management have a conflict of interest, we prefer the assurance that the transaction was reviewed by the independent directors.

Structure of Analysis

For every M&A analysis, ISS reviews publicly available information and evaluates the merits and drawbacks of the proposed transaction, balancing various and sometimes countervailing factors including:

• Valuation

Is the value to be received by the target shareholders (or paid by the acquirer) reasonable? If a fairness opinion has been prepared, it provides an initial starting point for assessing valuation reasonableness, but ISS also places emphasis on the offer premium, market reaction, and strategic rationale.

Market reaction

How has the market responded to the proposed deal? A negative market reaction will cause ISS to scrutinize a deal more closely.

• Strategic rationale

Does the deal make sense strategically? From where is the value derived? Cost and revenue synergies should not be overly aggressive or optimistic, but reasonably achievable. Management should also have a favorable track record of successful integration of historical acquisitions.

• Negotiations and process

Were the terms of the transaction negotiated at arms-length? Was the process fair and equitable? A fair process helps to ensure the best price for shareholders.

Conflicts of interest

Are insiders benefiting from the transaction disproportionately and inappropriately as compared to non-insider shareholders? As the result of potential conflicts, the directors and officers of the company may be more likely to vote to approve a merger than if they did not hold these interests. ISS will consider whether these interests may have influenced these directors and officers to support or recommend the merger.

Governance

Will the combined company have a better or worse governance profile than the respective current

governance profiles of the respective parties to the transaction? If the governance profile is to change for the worse, the burden is on the company to prove that other issues (such as valuation) outweigh any deterioration in governance.

ISS Analytical Focus

The case-by-case basis is the appropriate and correct approach to analyzing M&A, but the emphasis of any ISS analysis will be first and foremost on shareholder value. ISS recognizes the importance of other factors, including corporate governance, to our clients, yet cases where corporate governance dominates an M&A vote decision will be rare.

Moreover, ISS cannot hold itself out as an industry expert. Any ISS analysis of strategic rationale will be limited to general comments on the typical strategic rationales themselves (e.g., economies of scale, aggressive/conservative synergy assumptions, horizontal vs. vertical vs. conglomerate mergers, etc.).

In short, our vote recommendation will be based on an analysis of shareholder value, which itself can be affected by ancillary factors such as the negotiation process. However, our research product can be distinguished from traditional brokers' analysis by the inclusion of intelligent discussions, where appropriate, of such ancillary factors.

If the shareholder value is indeed fair, then all the other considerations listed above (e.g., conflicts, process, etc.) become secondary. However, negative factors may indicate that the valuation of a proposed transaction is not in fact "fair." For example, a poor process can lead to a less than ideal valuation, or excessive change-in-control payments may transfer some of the rightful value due shareholders to conflicted insiders. In these cases, ISS will scrutinize a deal's valuation more closely to determine whether it is fair to shareholders despite the applicable negative ancillary factors. A transaction can be fair from a valuation standpoint despite being "unfair" in other aspects. In such cases, shareholder value is the trump card.

Asset Divestments/Purchases

Divestments

In reviewing asset sale proposals, shareholders should look for potential elimination of diseconomies and examine the value received for the asset. To assist in this regard, asset sale proposals may be accompanied by an investment bank's opinion. Shareholders should also examine the proposal for evidence that the asset was shopped around and that the deal terms were negotiated at arms-length.

Vote recommendations on asset sales will be determined on a case-by-case basis after considering:

- Impact on the balance sheet/working capital;
- Potential elimination of diseconomies;
- Anticipated financial and operating benefits;
- Anticipated use of funds;
- Value received for the asset; accountants' report; fairness opinion (if any);
- How the deal was negotiated; and
- Conflicts of interest.

Asset Purchases

As with disposals, vote recommendations on asset sales will be determined on a case-by-case basis taking into account:

- Purchase price, including earnout and contingent payments;
- independent accountants' report;
- Fairness opinion (if any);
- Financial and strategic benefits;
- How the deal was negotiated;
- Conflicts of interest;
- Other alternatives for the business; and
- Noncompletion risk (company's going concern prospects, possible bankruptcy).

Disclosure/Disclaimer

This document and all of the information contained in it, including without limitation all text, data, graphs, and charts (collectively, the "Information") is the property of Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. ("ISS"), its subsidiaries, or, in some cases third party suppliers.

The Information has not been submitted to, nor received approval from, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other regulatory body. None of the Information constitutes an offer to sell (or a solicitation of an offer to buy), or a promotion or recommendation of, any security, financial product or other investment vehicle or any trading strategy, and ISS does not endorse, approve or otherwise express any opinion regarding any issuer, securities, financial products or instruments or trading strategies.

The user of the Information assumes the entire risk of any use it may make or permit to be made of the Information.

ISS MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE INFORMATION AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF ORIGINALITY, ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, NON-INFRINGEMENT, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE) WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE INFORMATION.

Without limiting any of the foregoing and to the maximum extent permitted by law, in no event shall ISS have any liability regarding any of the Information for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential (including lost profits) or any other damages even if notified of the possibility of such damages. The foregoing shall not exclude or limit any liability that may not by applicable law be excluded or limited.